IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES BROWNLEE

APPELLANT

VERSUS

APR 2 4 2007

NO. 2006-KA-01399-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT JAMES BROWNLEE

APPEALED FROM
THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COAHOMA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
ELEVENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT
CAUSE NO. 2006-0007

RICHARD B. LEWIS CHAPMAN, LEWIS & SWAN P.O. BOX 428 CLARKSDALE, MS 38614 (662) 627-4105 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently out on bond living in Arkansas. The Appellant was sentenced on August 14, 2006 to serve a term of 15 years with 8 years suspended with the Defendant to serve 7 years on Count I, Armed Robbery and 15 years with 8 years suspended with the Defendant to serve 7 years on Count II, Armed Robbery. The sentence in Count II was ordered to run concurrent with the sentence in Count I. (R.E.5-10)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. APPELLANT CONTENDS THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND SUBSEQUENT MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT NON OBSTANTE VERDICTO OR ALTERNATIVELY FOR A NEW TRIAL SINCE THE VERDICT IS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND NOT SUPPORTED BY SUFFICIENT CREDIBLE EVIDENCE.
- II. APPELLANT RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL THROUGHOUT THE PRE-TRIAL, AND TRIAL STAGES OF THIS CASE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant was indicted on the 30th day of May, 2006, for two counts of armed robbery, which occurred on or about March 2, 2006, in Lula, Coahoma County, Mississippi. The Defendant was arraigned and represented by the Honorable David Tisdell. A trial was had on or about July 24-25, 2006. (R.E. 1). A jury was empaneled and a verdict returned in finding the Defendant guilty of both counts of armed robbery. In Count I, the Appellant was sentenced to 15 years with 8 years suspended, with Appellant to serve 7 years. In Count II, the Appellant was sentenced to serve 15 years with 8 years suspended with the Defendant to serve 7 years to run concurrent with Count I in an institution under the control and supervision of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (R.E. 5-10) The Defendant filed a Motion for Judgment Non Obstante Verdicto Or Alternatively For A New Trial which was denied on or about August 11, 2006. (R. 213-218) (R.E. 6-9). It is from this conviction and denial of a new trial that the Defendant, Appellant herein, brings his timely appeal.

The State presented proof that Clarksdale residents, Jesse Green and Roger Leslie, were robbed at gunpoint by the Appellant on March 2, 2006, while attempting to purchase a vehicle in the parking lot of the Isle of Capri Casino Parking Lot.(R.96). The primary witnesses were the victims, Jesse Green and Roger Leslie, as well as Jerryco Green who was a passenger in the truck driven by Jesse Green. (R.98) Jesse Green, Roger Leslie and Jerryco Green had driven to the casino parking lot to meet with a man named Ricky about purchasing a black Camaro Z28. (R. 96-98) There was proof presented that Mr. Jesse Green had his tax return money in the amount of \$4,400 in cash with him to purchase the vehicle if it was to his liking. (R. 100-101) After Jerryco Green exited the truck to make a phone call, the two victims were allegedly approached by Appellant and another individual at gunpoint demanding money from Jesse Green. (R.98-103) Allegedly as the appellant was

attempting to flee the scene, the other individual allegedly with Appellant then demanded that Roger Leslie give him the keys to the truck driven by Jesse Green. (R. 100-104). Mr. Green testified that he then reported the incident to a Casino security officer and later to Coahoma County Investigator, Fernando Bee. (R. 105-106). The State presented proof that Mr. Brownlee became a suspect after a description of the vehicle and gunman lead law enforcement to him. (R. 54-59). Both victims were able to identify the Appellant as one of the gunman in both counts of armed robbery during a photo lineup and at trial. (R. 102-103, 128-130).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant contends that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and based on the suggestiveness of the photo lineup whereby said defendant was the only suspect in the lineup with dreadlocks out of the six photos shown to the eyewitness. (R.E. 33). The eyewitnesses identified the Appellant as the robber based on the suggestive out of court photo lineup. (R. 100, 102-103, 128-129, 130). Appellant further alleges that the eyewitnesses description of the robber was totally different from the actual appearance of the Appellant in that Appellant was clearly not stocky, chubby-faced nor did he have a gold tooth. (R. 100, 102, 105-106, 109, 113, 115, 117). Further, the getaway car driven by the perpetrators was not noticed to have tinted windows while the Appellant's white Cadillac actually had tinted windows (R. 115, 117, 139). Appellant also contends that the verdict is the result of ineffective assistance of counsel, based on Appellant's trial attorney failing to investigate and failing to subpoena or have present the witnesses needed to establish the Appellant's alibi. (R.E. Motion for New Trial and Affidavits and Exhibits pg 6-26) Appellant asks that the jury's guilty verdict be vacated on grounds related to the weight of evidence, so that he might be re-tried in order to allow the Appellant to present the alibi witnesses that will place the

Appellant at a different location than the Casino at the time of the alleged robbery which his previous attorney failed to do. (R.E. Motion for New Trial Affidavits and Exhibits pg 6-26). Appellant contends his conviction should be reversed and he be granted a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT CONTENDS THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AND SUBSEQUENT MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NON OBSTANTE VERDICTO OR ALTERNATIVELY FOR A NEW TRIAL SINCE THE VERDICT IS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND NOT SUPPORTED BY SUFFICIENT CREDIBLE EVIDENCE.

Appellant contends that the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Taking the testimony of all the witnesses as a whole, Appellant asserts that his Motion For Directed Verdict and Subsequent Motion for Judgment Non Obstante Verdicto should have been sustained because in taking all the evidence into light, the most favorable to the State, the State has failed to meet his burden of proof in this case. The basic standard of review of the sufficiency of evidence to support a criminal conviction is set out in **Jackson v. Virginia**, 443 U.S. 307, 99 Supreme Court 2781, 61 Lawyers Ed. Second 560 (1979).

Based on **Jackson v. Virginia**, the critical inquiry is not simply whether the jury was properly instructed, but also whether the record of evidence can reasonably support a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. This inquiry does not, in preserving the fact finder's role as a weigher of evidence, require a Court to ask itself whether it believes that the evidence in trial establishes guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The relevant question, as pointed out in this case, is whether after reviewing all the evidence in light most favorable to the government, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

It is Appellant's contention that the Judge, at the Lower Court level, must require acquittal by

sustaining a Motion For Directed Verdict or at least requiring a new trial if reasonable jurors would necessarily have reasonable doubt as to his guilt in this case.

This Court pointed out in May v. State, 460 So.2d 778 (Mississippi 1984) as follows:

In other words, once the jury has returned a verdict of guilty in a criminal case, we are not at liberty to direct that the Defendant be discharged short of a conclusion on our part, that given the evidence, taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, no reasonable, hypothetical juror, could find a reasonable doubt that the Defendant was guilty **Pearson v State**, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss., 1983).

The Motion for New Trial is a different animal. While the Motion for Judgement of Acquittal Not Withstanding A Verdict presents to the trial court a pure question of law, the Motion For A New Trial is addressed to the Trial Court's sound discretion Neal vs. State, 451 So.2d 743, 760, (Miss. 1984) when he moves for a new trial, a Defendant in a criminal case necessarily invokes Rule 10.05 of our Circuit and County Court Rules which in pertinent part provides:

The Court on written notice of the Defendant may grant a new trial on any of the following grounds:

- (1) If required in the interest of justice;
- (2) If the verdict is contrary to law or the weight of the evidence;...

As distinguished from the J.N.O.V. Motion, here the Defendant is not seeking final discharge. He is asking that the jury's guilty verdict be vacated on grounds related to the weight of the evidence, not it's sufficiency, and may be retired consistent with the double jeopardy clause, **Tibbs v. Florida**, 457 U.S. 31,39, 102 S.Ct. 2211, 2217, 72 L. Ed. 2d. 652, 659-60 (1982).

That, as a matter of law, the motion for judgment of acquittal, not withstanding the verdict, must be overruled and denied and in no way affects and little informs the trial judge regarding his disposition of the motion for new trial. Cases are hardly unfamiliar wherein the Court holds that the evidence is sufficient so that one party or the other was not entitled to judgment not withstanding the verdict but, nevertheless, that a new trial in the interest of justice should be ordered. Hux v. State 234 So.2d 50, 51(Miss. 1970), Quarles v. State 199 So.2d 58, 61 (Miss. 1967); Mister v. State 190 So.2d 869, 871 (Miss. 1966); Yelverton v. State 191 So.2d 393,394 (Miss. 1966); Heflin v. State 178 So.2d 594 (Miss. 1938); Conway v. State, 177 MS. 461, 469, 171 So. 16, 17 (1936).

A greater quantum of evidence favoring the State is necessary for the State to

withstand a motion for a new trial as distinguished from a motion for J.N.O.V. Under our established case law, the trial judge should set aside a jury's verdict only when, in the exercise of his sound discretion, he is convinced that the verdict is contrary to the substantial weight of the evidence **Pearson v. State** 428 So.2d at 1364.

Appellant contends that the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, due to the testimony of the prosecution witnesses' inaccurate identification of the Appellant, and due to the suggestiveness of the photo lineup used to identify the robber. The testimony was that the robber had "dreadlocks" as a hairdo and the only person in the photo lineup with dreadlocks was the Appellant. (R. 100, 102, 105-106, 109, 113, 115, 117, 120, 128, 129). (R.E. 33).

Appellant also contends that the verdict is contrary to the law and evidence, based on the suggestiveness of the photo lineup whereby said defendant was the only suspect in the lineup with dreadlocks out of the six photos shown to the eyewitness. The eyewitnesses identified the defendant as the robber based on the suggestive out of court photo lineup and gave an inaccurate description during trial. (R. 100, 102, 105-106, 109, 113, 115, 117, 120, 128, 129). According to **Dennis v. State of Mississippi**, 904 So.2d 1134, 1135 (2004), the Mississippi Court of Appeals stated that "a photographic lineup is impermissibly suggestive when the accused is conspicuously singled out in some manner from others. *Id* at 1135. The Court went on to state that the U.S. Supreme Court set out five factors to be considered in determining whether a lineup is impermissibly suggestive: (1) The opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, (2) The witness's degree of attention, (3) The accuracy of the witness's prior description of the criminal, (4) The level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) The length of time between the crime and the confrontation. *Id*. The Court then indicated that the picture stood out like a "sore thumb" from the rest of the pictures used in the photographic identification process and was

impermissibly suggestive. *Id* at 1136. In Mr. Brownlee's case, his photo stood out like a "sore thumb" due to his photo being the only suspect in the lineup having dreadlocks. (R.E. 33). The witness that identified the defendant had stated prior to the lineup that he was robbed by a person with dreadlocks. (R. 113).

Appellant also contends that the verdict is not based on sufficient evidence, based on the fact that the eyewitnesses description of the robber was totally different from the appearance of the defendant. At trial, in their identification of the robber the prosecution witnesses described the robber as having a gold tooth, having a chubby face, and being heavy set and stocky. (R.102-106, 113, 115, 120, 128, 129) The said Appellant does not have a gold tooth now nor did he at the time of the alleged robbery. (See R. E. Motion for a New Trial Exhibit D-2 (a-f) pg 15-20). The Appellant has neither a chubby face, nor is he heavy-set or stocky and is actually 5'6" and weighs 150 pounds. The prosecution witnesses also stated that the robber's car had more or different letters and numbers than the standard lettering for Arkansas tags, and was different than those on the Appellant's car. (R. 111) Further, the video tape played at trial showed a white car that had no tinted windows as the car used in the robbery. (R.E. Motion for a New Trial Exhibit D-3 (a-e) pg 21-25.) (Also, see video tape Exhibit D-4 in original record sent by Clerk). However, the Appellant's car had dark tinted windows pursuant to the testimony of Officer Carl Vann and picture. (R. 139) (R.E. Motion for New Trial Exhibit D-3 (a-e), pg 21-25). Officer Vann was a Helena police officer who was very familiar with Appellant's car.

When testing the legal sufficiency of the State's evidence, the standard of review is as follows: "the court must review the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, accept as true all the evidence supporting the guilty verdict and give the prosecution the benefit of all favorable

774, 778 (Miss. 1993). The court will only reverse when fair-minded jurors could find the accused not guilty. Weltz vs. State, 503 So.2d 803, 808 (Miss. 1987). It has long been a rule that the jury "may give consideration to all inferences flowing from the testimony." Magnum vs. State, 762 So.2d 337 (Miss. 2000). In reviewing the proof as alleged above, Appellant should be granted a new trial.

II. APPELLANT RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL THROUGHOUT THE PRE-TRIAL AND TRIAL STAGES OF THIS CASE.

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, a Defendant must prove: "(1) counsel's performance was defective, and (2) the defect was so prejudicial that it prevented [Defendant] from receiving a fair trial." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). This standard has been adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court. Moody v. State, 644 So. 2d 451, 456 (Miss. 1994). In order for a defendant to show prejudice, it is necessary that he prove that the outcome of the trial would be different were it not for counsel's errors. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 699. The issue of ineffective assistance of counsel may be resolved on direct appeal if both parties (Appellant and Appellee) stipulate that the record is sufficient to determine whether the Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel; or the record affirmatively shows ineffective assistance of counsel; if no other error is found in the record, then the Court of Appeals should "affirm without prejudice to the defendant's right to raise the ineffective assistance of counsel issue via appropriate post-conviction relief filings." Wash v. State, 807 So. 2d 452, 461 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). An appellate court should reach the merits of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim on "direct appeal only if (1) the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions, or (2) the

parties stipulate that the record is adequate to allow the appellate court to make the findings without consideration of the findings of fact of the trial judge." <u>Colenburg v. State</u>, 735 So.2d 1099, 1101 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). "If the issue is not examined because of the state of the record, and assuming the conviction is affirmed, the defendant may raise the ineffective assistance of counsel issue in post-conviction relief proceedings." **Pittman v. State** 836 So.2d 779, 787 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

Appellant recognizes the case law precedent from the Mississippi Supreme Court and the Mississippi Court of Appeals regarding the necessary stipulations for such an appellate court to review a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal. However, counsel for Appellant in his Motion for New Trial proffered for the record what evidence the Appellant was prepared to show as evidence of ineffective assistance of counsel. (R. 213-218) (R.E. Motion for New Trial; Exhibits D-1 - D-4, pg 6-26) Current counsel for Appellant would be remiss in his duties not to zealously advocate Appellant's case by not including this issue in Appellant's Brief. Appellant's trial counsel absolutely failed to prepare to represent Appellant at his trial and, furthermore, failed to preform any sort of pretrial work on his case, thus, Appellant contends the proffered testimony clearly shows ineffectiveness and that with this alibit testimony coupled with bad identification the outcome would have been different.

Appellant was tried and convicted of two counts of armed robbery. The verdict is the result of the ineffective assistance of counsel, based on Appellant's attorney failing to investigate and determine the witnesses to establish the Appellant's alibi and by failing to subpoena and/or call to testify four alibi witnesses to testify at trial that said Appellant Brownlee was at Champ's Health and Fitness Club on 953 Highway 49 West Helena, AR, assisting his quadriplegic cousin in exercises during the time of the robbery at 3:30 p.m. on March 2, 2006. (See R.E. 6-14, Motion for a New

Trial; Exhibit D-1 Collective Exhibit of Affidavits, pg 11-14) (R. 213-218). The witnesses that Appellant was prepared to call at his Motion for a New Trial hearing to establish that he was at another place at the time of the alleged robbery were:

(1) Richardo Hervey, (2) Demitrius Tate, (3) Adrian Horteson and (4) Ashante Hart. (See R.E. 6-14 Motion for a New Trial; Exhibit D-1, pg 11-14) Appellant proffered their testimony by Affidavit at the hearing on the Motion for New Trial and J.N.O.V. (R. 213-218).

Appellant's trial counsel's performance was deficient and that the said Appellant was clearly prejudiced by trial counsel's performance in failing to investigate and call said alibi witnesses at trial. That but for the Appellant's trial attorneys failing to call said four alibi witnesses to testify at trial and establish the Appellant's alibi combined with the inaccurate description of the robber given by the witness and the suggestive photo lineup, the verdict would have resulted in a not guilty verdict. Further the attorney was deficient in not filing a pretrial motion to suppress the out of court photo lineup identification of the defendant as the robber due to it suggestiveness of said lineup which lead to the jury's verdict based on a suggestive photo lineup. Appellant was obviously the only person in the six (6) man pretrial photo lineup with dreadlocks. (See R.E. 33 Photo Lineup, Exhibit D-1). Under the totality of the circumstances and evidence presented, trial counsel's performance was deficient.

CONCLUSION

Appellant argues that the State did not have a greater quantum of evidence favoring their version of the facts as elicited due to the testimony of the prosecution witnesses as to the identification of the Appellant as well as the robbery vehicle, and due to the suggestiveness of the photo lineup used to identify the robber. The State's case should not have been allowed to withstand

a Motion For New Trial as distinguished from a Motion For J.N.O.V., under our established case law. (R. 213-218). The Trial Judge should have set aside the jury's verdict in this case when considering all the evidence as a whole combined with the Appellant's trial attorney's ineffective assistance in preparing his defense. The Court in exercising his sound discretion, and in the interest of justice, should have ruled that the verdict was contrary to the weight of the evidence and only allowed the Appellant to proffer the Affidavits rather than hearing the testimony of the witness at the Motion for New Trial (R. 213-218). **Pearson v. State** 428 So.2d 1364, Miss. 1983).

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