IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES BROWNLEE

APPELLANT

VS.

JUN 10 757

COURT OF ALLS

NO. 2006-KA-1399-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Accepting as true the victims' identification testimony and disregarding any evidence favorable to Brownlee, including Brownlee's general denial and any alibi defense, it is clear there was sufficient credible evidence to support a verdict of guilty of armed robbery.

The verdict of the jury was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence because the identification testimony from Jesse Green and Roger Leslie was both substantial and credible.

The trial judge instructed the jury to consider the familiar *Biggers* factors in determining whether the identifications made by Green and Leslie were credible and reliable. (C.P. at 45-46) The jury resolved the issue of credibility in favor of the witnesses for the State.

The jury, and not a reviewing court, is charged "... with the responsibility of weighing and

considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed." **Houston v. State**, 887 So.2d 808, 816 (¶38) (Ct.App.Miss. 2004) quoting from **Smith v. State**, 821 So.2d 908, (¶4) (Ct.App.Miss. 2002).

There was no objection - neither pretrial, contemporaneous nor otherwise - to the identifications made by Jesse Green and Roger Leslie. Consequently, Brownlee is procedurally barred from having this issue reviewed on appeal. Moreover, they are not matters that, under the facts, should be reviewed for plain error. **Houston v. State**, *supra*, 887 So.2d 808 (¶14) (Ct.App.Miss. 2004).

In any event, even if trial counsel had objected to the array, the trial judge would not have erred one whit in admitting into evidence the pretrial out-of-court photographic identifications or the in-court identifications made during trial by Green and Leslie. Neither of the two identifications was the product of impermissible suggestiveness, and the familiar **Biggers'** factors clearly favor the State.

II. Brownlee was not denied the effective assistance of counsel because "... complaints concerning counsel's failure to file certain motions, call certain witnesses, ask certain questions, and make certain objections fall within the ambit of trial strategy." Houston v. State, 887 So.2d 808, 815 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004).

It cannot be said from this record that trial counsel's performance during pretrial and trial was deficient or that any deficiency prejudiced the defendant.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE EVIDENCE WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE DUAL VERDICTS RETURNED BY THE JURY, AND NEITHER VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

James Brownlee's convictions of armed robbery were based largely upon the eyewitness identification testimony of the victim, Jesse Green. His positive identification, together with the testimony of his friend, Roger Leslie, carried great weight, especially where, as here, the identifications pass the familiar *Biggers* test with flying colors.

Brownlee argues the evidence is wanting in both sufficiency and weight and claims that trial counsel was ineffective in the constitutional sense. (Brief of Appellant at 3-4)

We respectfully invite this Court's attention to the case of **Houston v. State**, 887 So.2d 808 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004), which controls the posture of each and every claim, issue, and complaint raised and argued by substitute counsel.

In **Houston**, the appellant made identical arguments in the wake of nearly identical facts. Each argument was rejected by the reviewing court. We defer to the law of the case superbly expressed by Judge King in **Houston**. Brownlee's sufficiency and weight of the evidence argument, as well as his effective assistance of counsel argument, are devoid of merit for the reasons expressed by Judge King in **Houston**, a case which is impossible to distinguish. *See* appellee's exhibit <u>A</u>, attached.

We could, in good faith and with cautious optimism, terminate our argument here but elect to continue the march for good measure.

Motions for a directed verdict, judgments notwithstanding the verdict, and requests for

peremptory instruction all challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence presented at trial. Carter v. State, 869 So.2d 1083 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004); Richardson v. State, 868 So.2d 389 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004).

Brownlee waived - forfeited, if you please - his motion for a directed verdict made at the close of the State's case-in-chief when he introduced evidence in his own behalf. **Holland v. State**, 656 So.2d 1192, 1197 (Miss. 1995).

The sufficiency of the evidence, therefore, must be reviewed within the context of the Circuit Court's ruling on the last occasion when the sufficiency of the evidence was challenged before the trial court which, of course, was Brownlee's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. (C.P. at 9-11)

It is clear that Jesse Green made both a photographic identification as well as an in-court identification of Brownlee as the robber and the pistol tot'in tormentor. (R. 100, 102-03)

It is enough to say that Jesse Green's identification of Brownlee, standing alone, was sufficient to prove Brownlee's identity as the robber who removed at gunpoint Green's money from Green's pocket. Green's identification testimony was both substantial and credible and, if believed, carried sufficient weight to support Brownlee's convictions. **McNeal v. State**, 405 So.2d 90 (Miss. 1981); **Burks v. State**, 770 So.2d 960 (Miss. 2000); **Brooks v. State**, 52 So.2d 609 (Miss. 1951).

The jury received jury instruction D-2, the instruction approved by this Court in **Davis v.**State, 568 So.2d 277, 279-80 (Miss. 1990). When the case turns on the identification of the defendant by a single person, this instruction, when requested, must be granted. Warren v. State, 709 So.2d 415, 420-21 (Miss. 1998).

It was. (C.P. at 45-46; appellee's exhibit **B**, attached)

The certainty of Jesse Green's identification of Brownlee is found in the record. (R. 106)

- Q. You ever going to forget his face or image?
- A. No, sir, never will. (R. 102)

- Q. Is there any doubt in your mind that that is James that the James Brownlee that you pointed to robbed you on March 2^{nd} ?
 - A. That is the person that robbed me when I got robbed.
 - Q. I believe you said he had a chubby face?
 - A. Yes, sir. (R. 106)

The description of Brownlee given by Green in court (R. 86-87), dread locks and all, pretty well matches the description given to the authorities shortly after the robbery. (R. 100, 112-13) We invite this Court's attention to the photographs of Brownlee inside exhibit envelope 1 of 2, *viz.*, defendant's exhibits D-2a through D-2f. If that's not a "chubby face," we don't know what is.

Green had no difficulty in identifying Brownlee either out-of-court or in-court. (R. 60-62, 100, 102-03) During direct-examination he asserted "[t]hat is the person that robbed me when I got robbed." (R. 106)

Brownlee seeks reversal and perhaps a discharge but, if not, at least a remand for a new trial. (Brief of Appellant at 4, 12) Brownlee asserts: "[T]he verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, due to the testimony of the prosecution witnesses' inaccurate identification of the appellant, and due to the suggestiveness of the photo lineup used to identify the robber." (Brief of Appellant at 6)

Several of Brownlee's complaints focus upon Green's description of the robber as having a "gold partial tooth" and the alleged presence of "tinted windows" and a dent in the white Cadillac.

The jury, however, heard testimony from Jesse Green capable of reconciling these alleged discrepancies and inconsistencies. Green was aware of "retractable removable gold plates" that

were worn only "for show," and Green's look at the white Cadillac "... was more of a glance at it and then I had a gun stuck to my head." (R. 121) Investigator Bee, likewise, was familiar with "removable gold plated teeth." (R. 73)

Clyde Boykins, a valet for the Isle of Capri, observed the white 4-door Cadillac "going the wrong way" but did not at all notice whether the windows were tinted. (R. 81) Neither did Jerryco Green who also observed the white Cadillac speeding and "going the wrong way." (R. 91-92)

Lest we forget, "[t]he jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory and sincerity." Houston v. State, supra, 887 So.2d at 816; Jones v. State, 381 So.2d 983, 989 (Miss. 1980). See also Blocker v. State, 809 So.2d 640, 645 (¶18) (Miss. 2002) ["(I)t is up to the jury to weigh any inconsistencies or contradictions in [a witnesses] testimony"; Greer v. State, 819 So.2d 1 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000), reh denied.

Brownlee, who primarily seeks a new trial as opposed to discharge, may have inadvertently blurred the distinction between weight and sufficiency. *See* **Pearson v. State**, 937 So.2d 996, 998 (¶6) (Ct.App.Miss. 2006)

"Weight" implicates the denial of a motion for a new trial while "sufficiency" implicates the denial of motions for directed verdict, peremptory instruction, and judgment notwithstanding the verdict. May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984).

"[A] greater quantum of evidence is necessary for the State to withstand a challenge that the verdict is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, as distinguished from the legal sufficiency of the evidence argument." Collier v. State, 711 So.2d at 458, 462 (Miss. 1998).

Stated somewhat differently, "[a] greater quantum of evidence favoring the State is necessary for the State to withstand a motion for a new trial, as distinguished from a motion for

j.n.o.v." May v. State, supra, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984).

"If the evidence is found to be legally insufficient, then discharge of the defendant is proper."

Collier v. State, supra, 711 So.2d 458, 461 (Miss. 1998) citing May v. State, 460 So.2d 778. 781 (Miss. 1985).

On the other hand, "... if the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, then a new trial is proper." Collier v. State, supra, 711 So.2d 458, 461 (Miss. 1998) citing May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781-82 (Miss. 1985).

In other words, the remedy for a defect in "weight" is a new trial while the remedy for a defect in "sufficiency" is final discharge from custody.

Brownlee, as noted previously, assails both the sufficiency and the weight of the evidence and invites this Court to reverse and grant him a new trial in the interest of justice. (Brief of Appellant at 4, 12)

The gist of Brownlee's weight of the evidence complaint is that the eyewitness identification of both Green and Leslie was too unreliable to be credible.

Our response is summarized in only three words: Classic jury issue.

It is well settled that a victim's uncorroborated identification of a defendant as his/her assailant is both substantial and credible evidence upon which the fact finder can base its verdict.

Brown v. State, 798 So.2d 629 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001); Dukes v. State, 751 So.2d 1129 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999), reh denied. *Cf.* Peyton v. State, 796 So.2d 243 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001), reh denied, cert denied. *See also* Passons v. State, 239 Miss. 629, 124 So.2d 847, 848 (1960), where we find the following language:

The character and adequacy of evidence of identification of an accused in a criminal case is primarily a question for the jury, provided evidence could reasonably be held sufficient to comply with the requirement of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury need not be controlled by the number of witnesses testifying to the identification of an accused. Identification based on the testimony of a single witness, if complying with the standard in criminal cases, can support a conviction, even though denied by the accused. The jury can appraise the truthfulness of an asserted alibi. In short, positive identification by one witness of the defendant as the perpetrator of the crime may be sufficient as in the instant case. 23 C.J.S. Criminal Law § 920, p.192.

In **Passons**, *supra*, the evidence sustained a conviction of armed robbery as against the defense of alibi.

In the case *sub judice*, the defendant testified in his own behalf and asserted a general denial in defense of the charge as well as an alibi. (R. 153, 160) Brownlee's primary defense was mistaken identification, and Mr. Tisdell, trial defense counsel, covered this matter from \underline{A} to \underline{Z} .

Green's eyewitness identification of Brownlee, however, was corroborated to a great extent by eyewitness identification made by Roger Leslie, who also got a good look at the two robbers.

(R. 127-28) The accuracy and credibility of Leslie's identification was also a matter for the jury.

Relevant here is the following language found in Walker v. State, 799 So.2d 151, 153, (¶5) (Ct.App.Miss. 2001), articulated in the wake of Walker's argument raising the questions of both weight and sufficiency:

These two issues are combined as they both have the same standard of review and are governed by the same facts. Calvin Walker first argues that the in-court identification by Murphy was insufficient to enable the jury to find Calvin Walker guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. "The inconsistencies of the in-court identification go only to the credibility and weight of the evidence, which is a factual determination to be made by the jury." Kimbrough v. State, 379 So.2d 934, 936 (Miss. 1980). Murphy testified that Calvin Walker was one of the two men who robbed her and Catlano. Calvin Walker's attorney questioned Murphy at length on cross-examination concerning her identification of Calvin Walker as the second robber. Who the jury decides to believe is a decision to be made by the jury, not

for this Court. Billiot v. State, 454 So.2d 445, 463 (Miss. 1984). In this instance the jury decided that Murphy's in-court identification of Calvin Walker was credible. [emphasis ours]

It was the function of the jury in the wake of jury instruction D-2 (Appellee's exhibit <u>B</u>, attached) to decide whether or not the in-court identifications made by Green and Leslie were credible and reliable. The sufficiency and integrity of their identification was fully explored during defense counsel's vigorous cross-examination of them both. (R. 108-121; 30-132)

Ditto with respect to counsel's lengthy and equally rigorous cross-examination of Investigator Fernando Bee (R. 62-72) who obtained photographs of Brownlee and others from Arkansas and prepared the photographic lineap shown separately to Green and Leslie. (R. 57-61)

The jury was properly instructed on this issue via instruction D-2 which placed the issue of identification squarely in the lap of the fact finder. The jury was told, *inter alia*, that if it was not convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that Brownlee was the person who committed the crimes, then it must find him not guilty. (C.P. at 45-46; Appellee's exhibit <u>B</u>, attached.)

Where, as here, the target of the defendant's complaint is the "weight" of the evidence, as opposed to its "legal sufficiency," such implicates the denial of a motion for a new trial.

"The motion for a new trial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court." Burge v. State, 472 So.2d 392, 397 (Miss. 1985). This Court reviews the trial court's denial of a post-trial motion under the abuse of discretion standard. Flowers v. State, 601 So.2d 828, 833 (Miss. 1992); Robinson v. State, 566 So.2d 1240, 1242 (Miss. 1990).

No abuse of judicial discretion has been demonstrated here.

"In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." Herring

v. State, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997), citing Thornhill v. State, 561 So.2d 1025, 1030 (Miss. 1989). See also Spann v. State, 771 So.2d 883, 892 (Miss. 2000).

"[T]he scope of review on this issue is limited in that all evidence must be construed in the light most favorable to the verdict." Herring v. State, supra, 691 So.2d at 957 citing Goff v. State, 572 So.2d 865, 867 (Miss. 1990). In a motion for a new trial, all facts are construed in favor of the non-moving party. Staten v. State, 813 So.2d 775 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002).

We reiterate. A reviewing court is duty bound to accept as true the evidence favorable to the State. Van Buren v. State, 498 So.2d 1224, 1229 (Miss. 1986). This includes the identification testimony of Jesse Green and Roger Leslie which preponderates heavily in favor of the verdict returned.

Finally, in Maiben v. State, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981), this Court announced that

.... we will not set aside a guilty verdict, absent other error, unless it is clearly a result of prejudice, bias or fraud, or is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence. [emphasis supplied]

The following observations made in **Groseclose v. State**, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983), are also worth repeating here:

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